

Secretary of State

I, SAM REED, Secretary of State of the State of Washington and custodian of its seal, hereby issue this

CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

to

BELLROSE HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION

a/an WA Non-Profit Corporation. Charter documents are effective on the date indicated below.

Date: 9/21/2005

UBI Number: 602-541-344

APPID: 375594

STATE OF WASHING

Given under my hand and the Seal of the State of Washington at Olympia, the State Capital

Sam Reed, Secretary of State

602 541 344

FILED SECRETARY OF STATE SAM REED

SEP 21, 2005

STATE OF WASHINGTON

ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION

OF

BELLROSE HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION

The undersigned, acting as an incorporator under the provisions of the Washington Nonprofit Corporation Act (Chapter 24.03 of the Revised Code of Washington), hereby adopts the following Articles of Incorporation:

ARTICLE I

NAME

The name of the Corporation shall be **BELLROSE HOMEOWNERS** ASSOCIATION (the "Association").

ARTICLE II

DURATION

The term of existence of the Association shall be perpetual.

ARTICLE III

PURPOSES

The purposes for which the Association is formed are:

- 1. To provide for maintenance, preservation and architectural control of the residential lots, and the development and maintenance of the common areas, within that certain tract of property, (the "Property") described on Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated by this reference, and to promote the health, safety, and welfare of the residents within the above-described Property and any additions thereto as may hereafter be brought within the jurisdiction of this Association. Without limitation, the Association may:
- (a) exercise all of the powers and privileges and perform all of the duties and obligations of the Association as set forth in that certain Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions, herein called the "Declaration," applicable to the Property, and to be recorded in the office of the County Auditor of Snohomish County, Washington as the same may be amended from time to time as therein provided, the Declaration being incorporated herein as if fully set forth;

- (b) exercise all of the powers and privileges and perform all of the duties and obligations of the Association as set forth in those certain Bylaws of the Association, as the same may be amended from time to time as therein provided;
- (c) fix, levy, collect and enforce payment of, by any lawful means, all charges or assessments pursuant to the terms of the Declaration, and pay all expenses in connection therewith and all office and other expenses incident to the conduct of the business of the Association, including all licenses, taxes or governmental charges levied or imposed against the Property;
- (d) acquire (by gift, purchase or otherwise), own, hold, improve, build upon, operate, maintain, convey, sell, lease, transfer, dedicate for public use or otherwise dispose of real or personal property in connection with the affairs of the Association;
- (e) borrow money, and mortgage, pledge, deed in trust, or hypothecate any or all of its real or personal property as security for money borrowed or debts incurred;
- (f) dedicate, sell, or transfer all or any part of the common area, to any public agency, authority, or utility for such purposes and subject to such conditions as may be agreed to by the members. No such dedication or transfer shall be effective unless approved as set forth in the Declaration;
- (g) participate in mergers and consolidations with other nonprofit corporations organized for the same purposes or annex additional residential property and common areas;
- (h) join, participate, or otherwise become a member in any organization which the Board of Directors deems to be in the interest of the Association:
- 2. To engage in any other lawful activity which may hereafter be authorized from time to time by the Board of Directors; provided however that nothing herein contained shall be deemed to authorize or permit the Association to carry on any business, to exercise any power, or to do any act which a corporation may not at any time lawfully carry on or do under the Washington Nonprofit Corporation Act, or any amendment thereto or substitute therefor.

ARTICLE IV

LIMITATIONS

- 1. The Association shall not have or issue shares of stock.
- 2. No part of the net earnings of this Association shall inure in whole or in part to the benefit of, or be distributable to its members, directors, officers, or other private persons, except that the Association shall be authorized and empowered to pay reasonable compensation for services rendered and to make payments and distributions in furtherance of the purposes set forth in these Articles. The Association shall not engage in a regular business of the kind carried on for profit.

ARTICLE V

MEMBERSHIP/VOTING RIGHTS

- 1. <u>Class A Members</u>. Class A Members shall be all Owners with the exception of the Declarant. Class A Members shall be entitled to one (1) vote for each Lot owned. When more than one person holds an interest in any Lot, all such persons shall be members. The vote for such Lot shall be exercised as they among themselves determine, but in no event shall more than one (1) vote be cast with respect to any Lot.
- Class B Members. Class B members shall be the Declarant (or its nominee). Class B Members shall be entitled to three (3) votes for each Lot owned. The Class B membership shall cease and be converted to Class A membership upon the expiration of the Development Period, which shall be defined as: That period of time beginning on the date of this Declaration and ending at the earlier of (i) 10 years from the date hereof, or (ii) written notice from the Declarant to the Association in which the Declarant elects to terminate the Development Period or (iii) the date that none of the Lots is owned by the Declarant.

ARTICLE VI

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The management of this Association shall be vested in a Board of Directors. The number of directors and the method of selecting directors shall be fixed by the Bylaws. The initial directors shall be three (3) in number, and their names and addresses are:

Martin J. Spadafora 12221 Village Center Place, Ste. 206 Mukilteo, WA 98275

Kim M. Spadafora 12221 Village Center Place, Ste. 206 Mukilteo, WA 98275

Mark Blanchett 12221 Village Center Place, Ste. 206 Mukilteo, WA 98275

The above directors shall serve until the first annual meeting of members and until their successors are elected and qualified.

ARTICLE VII

BYLAWS

Authority to make, alter, amend or repeal Bylaws is vested in the Board of Directors, and may be exercised at any regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors. All rights of members of the Association are granted subject to this reservation.

ARTICLE VIII

INDEMNIFICATION

The Association shall indemnify an individual made a party to a proceeding because the individual is or was a director against all liability, damage, or expense to the maximum extent and under all circumstances permitted by the Washington Nonprofit Corporation Act, as the Act now exists or may hereafter from time to time be amended, except that the Association shall not indemnify a director against liability, damage, or expense resulting from the director's gross negligence. Any repeal or modification of this Article shall not adversely affect any right or protection of a director of the Association existing at the time of such repeal or modification for or with respect to an act of such director occurring prior to such repeal or modification.

ARTICLE IX

LIMITATION OF DIRECTORS' LIABILITY

A director shall have no liability to the Association or its members for monetary damages for conduct as a director, except for acts or omissions that involve intentional misconduct by the director, or a knowing violation of law by the director, or for any transaction from which the director will personally receive a benefit in money, property or services to which the director is not legally entitled. If the Washington Nonprofit Corporation Act currently allows, or is hereafter amended to authorize, corporate action further eliminating or limiting the personal liability of directors, then the liability of a director shall be eliminated or limited to the full extent permitted by the Washington Nonprofit Corporation Act, as amended. Any repeal or modification of this Article shall not adversely affect any right or protection of a director of the Association existing at the time of such repeal or modification for or with respect to an act or omission of such director occurring prior to such repeal or modification.

ARTICLE X

DISSOLUTION

The Association may be dissolved upon the affirmative vote of not less than two-thirds (2/3) of the votes which members present or represented by proxy at a duly called meeting of Members are entitled to cast. Upon dissolution of the Association, other than incident to a merger or consolidation, (i) all liabilities and obligations of the Association shall be paid, satisfied and discharged, or adequate provision shall be made therefor; (ii)

the remaining net assets of the Association may be distributed to the by the Washington Nonprofit Corporation Act.

ARTICLE XI

AMENDMENTS

The Association reserves the right to amend, alter, change or repeal any provisions contained in its Articles of Incorporation in any manner now or hereafter prescribed or permitted by statute. Members shall have voting rights with regard to the question.

ARTICLE XII

REGISTERED OFFICE/AGENT

The street address of the Registered Office of this Association in the State of Washington and the name of its Registered Agent are:

Eugene W. Wong 601 Union Street, Suite 2600 Seattle, WA 98101-4000

ARTICLE XIII

INCORPORATOR

The name and post office address of the incorporator of this Association are as follows:

Eugene W. Wong 601 Union Street, Suite 2600 Seattle, WA 98101-4000

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the incorporator named below has signed these Articles, in duplicate, this 19th day of September, 2005.

Eugene W/Wong, Incorporator

CONSENT TO SERVE AS REGISTERED AGENT

I, Eugene W. Wong, hereby consent to serve as Registered Agent in the State of Washington for the nonprofit corporation, BELLROSE HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION. I understand that as Registered Agent for the corporation, it will be my responsibility to receive service of process in the name of the corporation, to forward all mail to the corporation, and to immediately notify the Office of the Secretary of State in the event of my resignation or of any changes in the registered office address of the corporation for which I am Registered Agent.

Dated: September 19, 2005.

Eugene W/Wong 601 Union Street, Suite 2600

Scattle, WA 98101-4000

EXHIBIT A LEGAL DESCRIPTION

PARCEL A:

LOTS 57 AND 58, RUGGS LAKE, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF, RECORDED IN VOLUME 13 OF PLATS, PAGE 6, RECORDS OF SNOHOMISH COUNTY, WASHINGTON;

EXCEPT PORTION CONVEYED TO SNOHOMISH COUNTY RECORDED UNDER AUDITOR'S FILE NUMBER 200204160741.

PARCEL B:

LOT 59, RUGGS LAKE, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF, RECORDED IN VOLUME 13 OF PLATS, PAGE 6, RECORDS OF SNOHOMISH COUNTY, WASHINGTON;

EXCEPT PORTION CONVEYED TO SNOHOMISH COUNTY RECORDED UNDER AUDITOR'S FILE NUMBER 9706120239.

SITUATE IN THE COUNTY OF SNOHOMISH, STATE OF WASHINGTON.



Corporations Division James M. Dolliver Building 801 Capitol Way South PO Box 40234 Olympia, WA 98504-0234 Tel 360,753,7115 Fax 360,864,8781 TDD 360,753,1485 WWW. BECKERS WE GOVICOUS

Congratulations:

You have completed the initial filing to create a new business entity. The next step in opening your new business is to complete a Master Business Application. You may have completed this step already. The Master Business Application can be completed online or downloaded at: http://www.dol.wa.gov/businesses.htm

If you have any questions about the master application, or would like a master application package mailed to you, please call the Department of Licensing at 360-664-1400.

EUGENE W WONG 601 UNION ST STE 2600 SEATTLE, WA 98101

IMPORTANT

You have completed the initial filing to create a new entity. To keep your filing status active and avoid administrative dissolution, you must:

- 1. File an Annual Report and pay the annual license fee each year before the anniversary of the filing date for the entity. A notice to file your annual report will be sent to your registered agent. It is the corporation or LLC's responsibility to file the report even if no notice is received.
- Maintain a Registered Agent and registered office in this
 state. You must notify the Corporations Division if there are
 any changes in your registered agent, agent's address, or
 registered office address. Failure to notify the Corporations
 Division of changes will result in misrouted mail, and
 possibly administrative dissolution.

If you have questions about report and registered agent requirements, please contact the Corporations Division at 360-753-7115 or visit our website at: http://www.secstate.wa.gov/corps

BYLAWS

OF

BELLROSE HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION

Adopted effective September 21, 2005

BYLAWS

OF

BELLROSE HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS

Unless otherwise specified, all terms shall have the same meaning in these Bylaws as such terms have in the Declaration of Easements, Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions for Plat of Bellrose filed with the Snohomish County Auditor on 12-21-2005 under recording number 20051221023 (the "Declaration"), applicable to the property managed by the Bellrose Homeowners Association (the "Association") and recorded with the Snohomish County Recorder. The terms "Owners" and "Members" as used herein shall be synonymous.

ARTICLE II OFFICES

- 2.1 <u>Registered Office/Agent</u>. The Association shall continuously maintain within the state of Washington a Registered Agent and a Registered Office as required by the Nonprofit Corporation Act of the state of Washington. The Registered Agent for the Association may be changed from time to time by the Board of Directors. Notice of any change in the registered agent or registered office shall be filed with the office of the Secretary of State of the state of Washington.
- 2.2 Other Offices. The Association may have other offices within Snohomish County, Washington at such place or places as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine.

ARTICLE III MEMBERSHIP

3.1 <u>Membership</u>. Every person or entity who is an Owner of any Lot shall become a Member of the Association. Membership shall be appurtenant to and may not be separated from ownership of any Lot and shall not be assigned or conveyed in any way except upon the transfer of title to said Lot and then only to the transferee of such title to the Lot. All Owners shall have rights and duties as specified in the Declaration, and in the Articles and Bylaws of the Association.

3.2 Classes of Voting Membership.

- 3.2.1 <u>Class "A" Members</u>. Class A Members shall be all Owners with the exception of the Declarant and shall be entitled to one (1) vote for each Lot owned. When more than one person holds an interest in any Lot, all such persons shall be members. The vote for such Lot shall be exercised as they amongst themselves determine, but in no event shall more than one (1) vote be cast with respect to any Lot.
- 3.2.2 <u>Class "B" Members</u>. Class B members shall be the Declarant (or its nominee) and shall be entitled to three (3) votes for each Lot owned. The Class B membership shall cease and be converted to Class A membership upon the expiration of the Development Period.
- 3.3 Transition of Management. As a result of the weighted voting structure, Declarant will initially have control of the Association and the election of its Board of Directors. Upon the termination of its rights as the Class "B" Member, the Declarant shall give written notice of said termination to the Owners of each Lot. The notice shall specify the date that the Development Period (as defined in the Declaration) is to end (the "Transition Date") and shall further notify the Owners of the date, place and time when a meeting of the Association will be held. The notice shall specify that the purpose of the Association meeting is to elect new officers and Directors of the Association. Notwithstanding any contrary provision of the Articles or Bylaws of the Association to the contrary, the presence either in person or by proxy of the Owners of five (5) Lots shall constitute a quorum for the purpose of this meeting only. The Board of Directors and officers of the Association may be elected by a majority vote of the quorum. Whether or not a quorum is present, the Declarant's rights as the Class "B" Member shall terminate on the date specified in the notice, and it shall thereafter be the responsibility of the Lot Owners to provide for the operation of the Association.
- 3.4 <u>Suspension of Voting Rights</u>. The Association, through its Board of Directors, has the right to suspend voting rights of any Owner of a Lot under the following circumstances:
 - a. For any period during which an assessment against the Lot remains unpaid.
- b. For a period not to exceed ninety (90) days per infraction, for any infraction of the Association's published rules and regulations.
- 3.5 <u>Certificates.</u> Membership in the Association may be evidenced by the issuance of a certificate in such form as shall be determined by the Directors. If such certificates are issued, the Secretary shall keep a register, indicating in whose name such certificates are held.
- 3.6 <u>Transfer of Membership: Records.</u> A membership in the Association shall not be transferred, pledged or alienated in any way, except by the sale of a Lot which entitles the Owner to membership, and then only to such purchaser, or by intestate succession, testamentary disposition, foreclosure or mortgage of record or other legal process. If a Membership Certificate

was issued, then, upon the transfer of any membership in accordance herewith, the certificate evidencing membership shall be returned to the Association and a new certificate issued in the name of the new Member. The Association shall then delete the name of the old Member and that Member's certificate from the books and indicate thereon the new Member. Any attempt to make a prohibited transfer is void and will not be reflected upon the books and records of the Association. In the event the Owner of any Lot should fail or refuse to transfer the membership registered in his name to the purchaser of such Lot, the Association shall have the right to report the transfer upon the books of the Association and, if certificates are being issued, issue a new certificate to the purchaser and, thereupon, the old membership outstanding in the name of the seller shall be null and void as though the same had been surrendered in accordance with the provisions hereinabove specified.

ARTICLE IV MEETINGS OF MEMBERS

- 4.1 <u>Annual Meeting</u>. The first annual meeting of the Members shall be held as provided in Section 3.3 of these Bylaws, and subsequent annual meetings of the Members shall be held each year on the third Wednesday of March for the purpose of electing directors and transacting such other business as may come before the meeting. If the day for the annual meeting of the Members is a legal holiday, the meeting may be held at the same hour on the first day following that is not a legal holiday. If the election of directors is not held on the date designated for the annual meeting of the Members or any adjournment thereof, the election shall be held at a special meeting of the Members as soon thereafter as is practicable.
- 4.2 <u>Annual Meeting Order of Business</u>. At the annual meeting of Members, the order of business shall be as follows:
 - a. Calling the meeting to order
 - b. Proof of notice of meeting (or filing of waivers)
 - c. Reading of minutes of last annual meeting
 - d. Reports of officers (including the Treasurer's presentation of financial statements for the preceding fiscal year and the budget the Board has adopted for the current fiscal year
 - e. Reports of committees
 - f. Election of directors
 - g. Miscellaneous business
- 4.3 <u>Special Meetings</u>. The President or the Board of Directors may call a special meeting of the Members for any purpose. A special meeting of the Members may also be called by the Members having at least ten percent (10%) of the total voting interest in the Association, and in the event such is the case, it shall be the duty of the secretary, upon request in writing by such Members, to call such a meeting of the membership. If the secretary neglects or refuses to issue such call within five (5) days of receipt of such request, the Members making the request may issue the call.

- 4.4 <u>Meeting Place</u>. The Board of Directors may designate any place, within Snohomish County, Washington, as the place for any annual meeting or for any special meeting called by the Board of Directors. Special meetings called at the request of Members shall be held at such place within Snohomish County, Washington as may be determined by the Board of Directors and designated in the notice of such meetings. If no designation is made, the place of meeting shall be the registered office of the Association in the state of Washington.
- Notice of Meetings. Not less than fourteen (14) nor more than sixty (60) days 4.5 before the date of any meeting of Members, written or printed notice shall be delivered, either personally or by mail, by or at the direction of the president or secretary or the Members calling the meeting, to each Member entitled to vote at such meeting. The notice shall state the date, place, and hour of the meeting and the business to be placed on the agenda by the Board of Directors for a vote by the Members, including the general nature of any proposed amendment to the Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws, any budget or changes in the previously approved budget that result in a change in assessment obligation, and any proposal to remove a director. Notice of a meeting at which an amendment to the Declaration or the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws is to be considered shall include the text of the proposed amendment. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered on the third day of regular mail delivery after a copy has been deposited in the United States Mail, first class, postage prepaid, addressed to the Member at his or her address as it appears in the records of this Association. Mailing addresses may be changed by notice in writing to the Board of Directors delivered to the Secretary or President of the Association.
- 4.6 <u>Waiver of Notice</u>. Whenever any notice is required to be given to any Member of the Association by the Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws or Declaration or by the laws of the State of Washington, a waiver thereof, in writing signed by the person or persons entitled to such notice, either before or after the time stated therein, shall be equivalent to giving of such notice. The attendance of a Member at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, and no writing shall be required, except where a Member attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.
- 4.7 Quorum. Unless otherwise specifically provided in Section 4.8 below, or in the Articles of Incorporation, Declaration or the laws of the state of Washington, a quorum is present throughout a meeting of Members if the owners to which thirty-four percent (34%) of the votes of the Association are allocated are present in person or by proxy.
- 4.8 Special Quorum for Assessments. Written notice of any meeting called for the purpose of taking any action on assessments authorized under Article IV of the Declaration shall be sent to all members not less than thirty (30) days nor more than sixty (60) days in advance of the meeting. At the first such meeting called, the presence of members or of proxies entitled to cast sixty percent (60%) of all the votes of each class of membership shall constitute a quorum. If the required quorum is not present, another meeting may be called subject to the same notice requirements, and the required quorum at the subsequent meeting shall be one-half (1/2) of the

required quorum at the preceding meeting. No such subsequent meeting shall be held more than sixty (60) days following the preceding meeting.

- 4.9 <u>Proxies</u>. At all meetings of Members, each Member may vote in person or by proxy executed in writing by the shareholder or by his or her duly authorized attorncy-in-fact. Such proxy shall be filed with the secretary of the Association before or at the time of the meeting. No proxy shall be valid after eleven (11) months from the date of its execution, unless otherwise provided in the proxy, and every proxy shall automatically terminate upon conveyance by the Member of his or her Lot. A proxy with respect to a specified meeting shall entitle the holder thereof to vote at any reconvened meeting following adjournment of such meeting but shall not be valid after the final adjournment thereof.
- 4.10 Attendance by Conference Telephone. A meeting may be held by means of or may include use of a conference telephone or similar communications equipment whereby all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other at the same time, and participation by such means shall constitute presence in person at such a meeting.
- 4.11 Action Taken Without Meeting. Any action required to be taken at a meeting of the Members or any action which may be taken at a meeting of the Members may be taken without a meeting if a consent in writing setting forth the action so taken shall be signed by all of the Members entitled to vote with respect to the subject matter thereof.
- 4.12 <u>Architectural Control Committee</u>. As described in the *Declaration, Article VI, Section 6.4*, the Declarant shall have the power to appoint the members of the Architectural Control Committee until such time as all Lots have been sold and all plans have been approved, at which time Declarant may transfer said appointment power to the Board.

ARTICLE V BOARD OF DIRECTORS

- 5.1 Management by Board. The affairs of the Association shall be managed by a Board of Directors (sometimes referred to herein as the "Board") which shall have and exercise all powers, duties and authority not reserved to the membership by other provisions of these Bylaws, the Articles of Incorporation, the Declaration or Washington state law as are necessary to administer the affairs of the Association. Without limitation of any of the foregoing, the Board of Directors shall have the power and duty to do the following:
- a. <u>Rules and Regulations</u>. Adopt and publish rules and regulations consistent with the Articles of Incorporation, Declaration, and Bylaws, governing the use of the Property, and the personal conduct of the Members and their guests thereon, and to establish penalties for the infraction thereof;
- b. Payment for Goods and Services. Pay for all goods and services required for the proper functioning of the Association and maintenance of the Private Roads and Works,

including but not limited to utilities, security, taxes, insurance, legal and accounting services attributable to common areas;

- c. <u>Assessments</u>. Subject to the restrictions set forth in the Declaration and these Bylaws, impose and collect annual and special assessments and establish the date upon which such assessments are due;
- d. <u>Certificates of Payment of Assessment</u>. Issue, or cause an appropriate officer to issue, upon demand by any person or entity, a certificate setting forth whether or not any assessment has been paid. A reasonable charge may be made by the Board for the issuance of these certificates. If a certificate states an assessment has been paid, such certificate shall be conclusive of such payment;
- e. <u>Budget</u>. As more fully provided in the Declaration, to set the annual budget and allocate the assessment rate, *provided however*, that the assessment rate is subject to all terms and conditions of the Declaration, and further provided that the procedure set forth in Article X of these Bylaws is followed;
- f. <u>Books and Records</u>. Cause to be kept a complete record of all its acts and corporate affairs and to present a statement thereof to the Members at the annual meeting of the Members;
- Employment and Supervision of Managers, Independent Contractors and Others. Employ and remove at pleasure all officers, agents, employees, independent contractors, or such other persons as they deem necessary, prescribe their duties and fix their compensation at commercially reasonable rates. Supervise all officers, agents and employees of this Association, and see that their duties are properly performed, and cause all officers or employees having fiscal responsibilities to be bonded, as deemed appropriate by the Board;
- h. <u>Legal Action</u>. Commence legal actions for the enforcement of the Declaration or any other legal action which the Board of Directors decms necessary for the protection of the Property, and defend against legal actions initiated against the Association. In the name of the Association, enforce and foreclose any lien for assessments of the Association, as may be necessary for collection thereof;
- i. <u>Right to Contract</u>. Have the exclusive right to contract for all goods, services, maintenance, and capital improvements *provided however*, that such right of contract shall be subject to Association approval;
- j Bank Account. Open a bank account on behalf of the Association and designate the signatories required;
- k. <u>Maintenance of Lots</u>. If necessary, maintain any Lot if such maintenance is reasonably necessary in the judgment of the Board and is authorized by the Declaration. The Board may authorize such maintenance activities and levy special assessments against the Owner

or Owners of such Lot for the cost of such maintenance pursuant to the restrictions set forth in the Declaration;

- 1. Right of Entry. Enter any Lot when reasonably necessary in the judgment of the Board and when authorized by the Declaration, after giving any notice required by the Declaration. Such entry must be made with as little inconvenience to the Owners as practicable, and any damage caused thereby shall be repaired by the Board if the entry was due to an emergency (unless the emergency was caused by the Owner of the Lot entered, in which case the cost shall be specially assessed to the Lot). If the repairs or maintenance activities were necessitated by the Owner's neglect of the Lot, the cost of such repair or maintenance activity shall be specially assessed to that Lot. If the emergency or the need for maintenance or repair was caused by another Owner of another Lot, the cost thereof shall be specially assessed against the Owner of the other Lot;
- m. <u>Discharge of Liens</u>. The Board may pay any amount necessary to discharge any lien or encumbrance levied against the Property or any part thereof which is claimed or may, in the opinion of the Board, constitute a lien against the Property or against the Common Area or Private Roads rather than merely against the interest therein of particular Owners. Where one or more Owners are responsible for the existence of such lien, they shall be jointly and severally liable for the cost of discharging it and any costs or expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees and costs of title search incurred by the Board by reason of such lien or liens. Such fees and costs shall be assessed against the Owner or Owners and the Lot(s) responsible, to the extent of their responsibility;
- n. <u>Declare the Office of a Director Vacant</u>. Declare the office of a Member of the Board of Directors to be vacant in the event such Member shall be absent from three (3) consecutive regular meetings of the Board of Directors;
- o. <u>Exercise Powers</u>. In general, exercise, on behalf of the Association, all powers set forth in RCW 24.03.035 and RCW 64.38.020, provided however, that the Board of Directors is not authorized to adopt or enforce discriminatory rules or regulations or restrictions, nor take any action based on race, religion, national origin, or sex.
- 5.2 <u>Number and Qualifications</u>. Until the Transition Date, the number of directors shall be two (2). After the Transition Date, the Association shall, from among its Membership, elect a Board of Directors consisting of three (3) directors, who through the Association shall manage and administer the Property in accordance with the Declaration, Articles and Bylaws. The number of directors may be changed by amendment to these Bylaws in the manner set forth herein.
- 5.3 Term of Office. Each director shall hold office for the term for which he or she is elected and until his or her successor shall have been elected and qualified. The Initial Directors named in the Articles of Incorporation, or their replacements, shall serve until the Transition Date. As soon as practicable following the Transition Date, the Members shall elect one (1) director for a term of one (1) year, one (1) director for a term of two (2) years and one (1) director

for a term of three (3) years. At each annual meeting thereafter the Members shall elect one (1) director for a term of three (3) years. Nominees for positions on the first elected Board shall indicate the specific duration of the term for which they are seeking election.

- 5.4 <u>Removal</u>. The Members may remove any member of the Board of Directors, with or without cause, and elect a successor for the unexpired term, by the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast by Members having voting rights in the Association who are present, in person or by proxy, and entitled to vote at a meeting of the Owners at which a quorum is present.
- 5.5 <u>Vacancy</u>. If any Member ceases to be an Owner, his or her membership on the Board shall thereupon terminate. Other than for a vacancy due to removal of a director, the Board of Directors shall have the power to fill by appointment any vacancy occurring in the Board, including but not limited to a vacancy occurring by reason of any increase in the number of directors as a result of amendment of these Bylaws. A director appointed to fill a vacancy shall be appointed for the unexpired term of his or her predecessor in office. Any director appointed by the Board shall stand for election for the remainder of the specified term for such position at the next annual meeting of Members.
- 5.6 <u>Compensation</u>. No director shall receive compensation for any service the director may render to the Association as a director. However, any director may be reimbursed for actual and necessary expenses incurred in the performance of duties as a director.

ARTICLE VI NOMINATION AND ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

- 6.1 <u>Nomination</u>. Except for the first annual meeting, nomination for election to the Board of Directors shall be made by a nominating committee. Nominations may also be made from the floor at any annual meeting of the Members. The nominating committee shall consist of a chairman, who shall be a member of the Board of Directors, and two (2) or more Members of the Association. The nominating committee shall be appointed by the Board of Directors prior to each annual meeting of the Members, to serve from the close of such annual meeting until the close of the next annual meeting, and such appointment shall be announced at each annual meeting. The nominating committee shall make as many nominations for election to the Board of Directors as it shall in its discretion determine, but not less than the number of vacancies that are to be filled.
- 6.2 <u>Election</u>. Election to the Board of Directors shall be by secret written ballot. At such election the Members or their proxies may cast one (1) vote in respect to each vacancy. The persons receiving the largest number of votes shall be elected. Such election may, in the discretion of the Board of Directors, be conducted by mail.

ARTICLE VII MEETINGS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

- 7.1 <u>Annual Meetings</u>. The annual meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held immediately after the annual meeting of Members for the purpose of electing officers. The meeting shall be held at the same place as the membership meeting unless some other place shall be specified by resolution of the membership at such meeting.
- 7.2 <u>Special Meetings</u>. A special meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held when called by the president of the Association, or by any two (2) directors.
- 7.3 <u>Regular Meetings</u>. The Board of Directors may provide, by resolution, the time and place for the holding of regular meetings and such meetings shall be held without notice, at such place and hour as may be fixed from time to time by resolution of the Board. Should such meeting fall upon a legal holiday, then that meeting shall be held at the same time on the next day which is not a legal holiday.
- 7.4 Notice of Meetings. No notice of annual meetings or of regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be required, other than as set forth in these Bylaws.

Notice of the time and place of any special meeting shall be given by the secretary or by the person or persons calling the meeting either in writing or orally. Oral notice may be communicated in person or by telephone, and shall be deemed effective if personally given to the director at least forty-eight (48) hours in advance of the time of the meeting.

Written notice delivered by private carrier, personal delivery, telegraph, teletype, or telephone, wire or wireless equipment which transmits a facsimile of the notice, must be delivered at least forty-eight (48) hours in advance of the time of the meeting.

If mailed, written notice shall be deemed effective when mailed, if mailed with first-class postage prepaid addressed to a director at his or her address shown on the records of the Association at least five (5) days before the meeting.

Neither the business to be transacted nor the purpose of any meeting of the Board of Directors need be specified in the notice or any waiver of notice of any special meeting.

7.5 Waiver of Notice. Whenever any notice is required to be given to any director by the Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws or Declaration or by the laws of the State of Washington, a waiver thereof, in writing signed by the director, either before or after the time stated therein, shall be equivalent to giving of such notice. The attendance of a director at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, and no writing shall be required, except where a director attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened. Attendance of a director at any meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except when a director attends the meeting

for the purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.

- 7.6 Quorum. A majority of the Board of Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. The act of a majority of the directors present at a meeting in which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board of Directors. The Board members present at a duly organized meeting at which a quorum is present or represented may continue to transact business until the adjournment of such meeting, notwithstanding the withdrawal of enough Board Members to leave less than a quorum.
- 7.7 <u>Attendance by Conference Telephone</u>. A meeting may be held by means of a conference telephone or similar communications equipment whereby all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other at the same time, and participation by such means shall constitute presence in person at such a meeting.
- Meetings Open to Members. All meetings of the Board of Directors shall be open 7.8 for observation by all owners of record and their authorized agents. The Board of Directors shall keep minutes of all actions taken by the Board, which shall be available to all owners. Upon the affirmative vote in open meeting to assemble in closed session, the Board of Directors may convene in closed executive session to consider personnel matters; consult with legal counsel or consider communications with legal counsel; and discuss likely or pending litigation, matters involving possible violations of the governing documents of the Association, and matters involving the possible liability of an Owner to the Association. The motion shall state specifically the purpose of the closed session. Reference to the stated purpose for the closed session shall be included in the minutes. The Board of Directors shall restrict the consideration of matters during the closed portions of meetings only to those purposes specifically exempted and stated in the motion. No motion, or other action adopted, passed, or agreed to in closed session may become effective unless the Board of Directors, following the closed session, reconvenes in open meeting and votes in the open meeting on such motion, or other action which is reasonably identified. The requirements of this section shall not require the disclosure of information in violation of law or which is otherwise exempt from disclosure.
- 7.9 Action Taken Without a Meeting. The directors shall have the right to take any action in the absence of a meeting which they could take at a meeting by obtaining the written approval of all the directors. Any action so approved shall have the same effect as though taken at a meeting of the directors.

ARTICLE VIII COMMITTEES

The Board of Directors, by resolution adopted by a majority of the full Board of Directors, may designate and appoint one or more committees, each of which shall consist of two or more directors, which committees, to the extent provided in such resolution or in the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws of the Association, shall have and may exercise the authority of the

Board of Directors in management of the Association. *Provided*, that no such committee shall have the authority of the Board of Directors in reference to amending altering or repealing the bylaws, electing, appointing or removing any member of any such committee or any director or officer of the Association; amending the Articles of Incorporation adopting a plan of merger or adopting a plan of consolidation with another corporation, authorizing the sale, lease or exchange of all or substantially all of the property and assets of the Association other than in the ordinary course of business; authorizing the voluntary dissolution of the Association or revoking proceedings therefor; adopting a plan for the distribution of the assets of the Association or amending, altering or repealing any resolution of the Board of Directors which by its terms provides that it shall not be amended, altered or repealed by such committee. *Provided, further*, that this Article shall not apply to the ACC, which is governed by the Declaration. All committees so appointed shall keep regular minutes of the transactions of their meetings and shall cause them to be recorded in books kept for that purpose in the office of the Association. The designation of any such committee and the delegation of authority thereto, shall not relieve the Board of Directors, or any member thereof, of any responsibility imposed by law.

ARTICLE IX OFFICERS AND THEIR DUTIES

- 9.1 Number. The officers of the Association shall be a president, one or more vice presidents, a secretary, and a treasurer, each of whom shall be elected by the Board of Directors. Such other officers and assistant officers, as may be deemed necessary may be elected or appointed by the Board of Directors, and shall have such authority and perform such duties as are provided in these Bylaws or as may be provided by resolution of the Board. Any two or more offices may be held by the same person except the offices of President and Secretary.
- 9.2 <u>Qualifications</u>. Officers must be Members of the Association. In addition, the President must be a director of the Association.
- 9.3 <u>Election and Term of Office</u>. The officers of the Association shall be elected annually by the Board of Directors at the annual meeting of the Board of Directors. If the election of officers shall not be held at such meeting, such election shall be held as soon thereafter as is convenient. Unless an officer dies, resigns or is removed from office, he or she shall hold office until his or her successor shall have been duly elected and qualified.
- 9.4 <u>Resignation and Removal</u>. Any officer or agent may be removed by the Board of Directors whenever, in its judgment, the best interest of the Association will be served thereby, but such removal shall be without prejudice to the contract rights, if any, of the person so removed. Election or appointment of an officer or agent shall not of itself create contract rights. Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Board, the president or the secretary. Such resignation shall take effect on the date of receipt of such notice or at any later time specified therein, and unless otherwise specified therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.

- 9.5 <u>Vacancies</u>. A vacancy in any office because of death, resignation, removal, disqualification, or any other cause, may be filled by the Board of Directors for the unexpired portion of the term.
- 9.6 <u>President</u>. The president shall have general supervision of the affairs of the Association and, unless some other officer is so designated by the Board of Directors, shall preside over meetings of the Board of Directors.
- 9.7 <u>Vice President</u>. The vice president shall perform all duties incumbent upon the president during the absence or disability of the president, with all the powers of and subject to all the restrictions upon the president, and shall perform such other duties as the Bylaws may provide or the Board of Directors may prescribe.
- 9.8 Secretary. The secretary shall: (1) keep the minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors in one or more books provided for that purpose; (2) see that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws or as required by law; (3) be custodian of the corporate records; (4) in general perform all duties incident to the office of secretary and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to him or her by these Bylaws or by the Board of Directors.
- 9.9 <u>Treasurer</u>. The treasurer shall keep correct and complete records of account, showing accurately at all times the financial condition of the Association. He or she shall be the legal custodian of all moneys, notes, securities, and other valuables that may from time to time come into the possession of the Association. He or she shall immediately deposit all funds of the Association coming into the treasurer's hands in a bank or other depository to be designated by the Board of Directors, and shall furnish at meetings of the Board of Directors, or whenever requested, a statement of the financial condition of the Association, and shall perform such other duties as these Bylaws may provide or the Board of Directors may prescribe.
- 9.10 Other Officers and Agents. The Board of Directors may from time to time appoint such other officers and agents as it shall deem necessary or expedient, who shall hold their offices for such terms, and shall exercise such powers and perform such duties as shall be determined by the Board of Directors.
- 9.11 Salaries. The salaries of all officers and agents of the Association and all other forms of compensation and benefits to such officers and agents shall be fixed and determined by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE X RATIFICATION OF BUDGET

The Board of Directors shall set the budget and allocate the assessment rate as provided in the Declaration. Within thirty (30) days after the adoption by the Board of Directors of any proposed regular or special budget, the Board shall set a date for a meeting of the owners to

consider ratification of the budget not less than fourteen (14) nor more than sixty (60) days after mailing of the summary. Unless at that meeting the owners of a majority of the votes in the Association reject the budget, in person or by proxy, the budget is ratified, whether or not a quorum is present. In the event that the proposed budget is rejected or the required notice is not given, the periodic budget last ratified by the Owners shall be continued until such time as the Owners ratify a subsequent budget proposed by the Board of Directors with or without cause.

ARTICLE XI LOANS

- 11.1 <u>Loans to Members/Directors/Officers</u>. No loans shall be made by the Association to any Member, any officer, or any member of the Board of Directors.
- 11.2 <u>Loans to Association</u>. Any borrowing by the Association must be approved by a majority vote of the Members of the Association at a regular or special meeting of the Association.

ARTICLE XII CONTRACTS, CHECKS, AND DEPOSITS

- 12.1 <u>Contracts</u>. The Board may authorize any officer or officers, agent or agents, to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Association, and such authority may be general or confined to specific instances.
- 12.2 <u>Checks, Drafts, Etc.</u> All checks, drafts, or other orders for the payment of money, notes, or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the Association, shall be signed by such officer or officers, agent or agents, of the Association and in such manner as is from time to time determined by the Board.
- 12.3 <u>Deposits</u>. All funds of the Association not otherwise employed shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the Association in such banks, trust companies, or other depositories as the Board may select.

ARTICLE XIII FISCAL YEAR

The fiscal year of the Association shall be determined by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE XIV CORPORATE SEAL

The seal of this Association, if the Board of Directors determines a seal is necessary, shall consist of the name of the Association, the state of its incorporation, and the year of its incorporation.

ARTICLE XV BOOKS AND RECORDS

- 15.1 <u>Records to be Maintained</u>. The Association shall keep at its registered office, or at its secretary's office within the state of Washington:
 - a. Current Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws;
 - Correct and adequate records of accounts and finances;
 - A record of officers' and directors' names and addresses; and
 - d. Minutes of the proceedings of the Board of Directors and any committees of the Board.
- Availability of Records. All financial and other records of the Association are the property of the Association and, with the exception of unlisted phone numbers, shall be available for examination by all owners, holders of mortgages on the lots and their respective authorized agents on reasonable advance notice during normal working hours at the offices of the Association or its managing or registered agent. The Association may impose and collect a reasonable charge for copies and any reasonable costs incurred in providing access to records.
- 15.3 <u>Financial Statements</u>. At least annually, the Association shall prepare, or cause to be prepared, a financial statement of the Association. If the annual assessments are fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000) or more, an annual audit shall be performed by an independent certified public accountant, unless waived by the vote of sixty-seven percent (67%) of the Members.
- 15.4 <u>Accounts</u>. The funds of the Association shall be kept in accounts in the name of the Association and shall not be commingled with the funds of any other association or the manager or other persons responsible for the custody of such funds.

ARTICLE XVI RULES AND REGULATIONS

- 16.1 <u>Adoption</u>. The Board of Directors may, from time to time, and subject to the provisions of the Declaration, Articles of Incorporation, and these Bylaws, adopt, amend and repeal rules and regulations in order to preserve the benefit of membership in the Association for all owners, their families, invitees, licensees and lessees, and for guests.
- 16.2 <u>Promulgation</u>. The secretary shall mail a true and correct copy of all rules and regulations or amendments thereto, to each Member of the Association as that Member's name

appears on the membership roll of the Association at the Member's last known address, and shall enter upon the records of the Association a notation of such mailing.

16.3 <u>Effective Date</u>. Any such rule or regulation or amendment thereto, adopted by the Board of Directors shall be effective commencing at 12:01 a.m. on the fifth (5th) day following the date of such mailing, unless the Board of Directors in adopting the same, shall specify some other effective date.

ARTICLE XVII RULES OF PROCEDURE

The rules of procedure at meetings of the Members and of the Board of Directors of the Association shall be rules contained in Roberts' Rules of Order of Parliamentary Procedure, as amended, so far as applicable and when not inconsistent with these Bylaws, the Articles of Incorporation, or with any resolution of the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE XIII AMENDMENTS

These Bylaws may be altered, amended, or repealed, and new Bylaws may be adopted at a regular or special meeting of the Members, by a vote of seventy-five percent (75%) of the total votes of the entire membership.

ARTICLE XIX CONFLICTS

In case of any conflict between the Articles of Incorporation and these Bylaws, the Articles shall control. In the case of any conflict between the Declaration and these Bylaws and the Articles, the Declaration shall control. In the case of any conflict between these Bylaws and the Washington Nonprofit Corporation Act, the statute shall control.

Dated effective September 21, 2005.

BELLROSE HOMEOWNERS ASOCIATION

Martin V. Spadafora, President

CONSENT BY DIRECTORS OF BELLROSE HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION

The undersigned, representing all of the Directors of Bellrose Homeowners Association (the "Corporation"), hereby consent in writing pursuant to RCW 24.03.465 to adoption of the following resolutions:

RESOLVED: That the following person(s) are hereby elected to serve as the director(s) of the Corporation until the end of the Development period and until successors are duly elected and qualified:

Curt	John sun

FURTHER RESOLVED: That all corporate activity since the organizational meeting and the business decisions of the Corporation's directors and officers, while acting within the scope of their authority for the Corporation, are hereby ratified and confirmed, provided that this resolution shall not absolve the directors and officers of the Corporation from responsibility for actions (a) not performed in good faith, (b) involving gross negligence, (c) involving intentional misconduct, (d) performed in knowing violation of the law, or (e) relating to any transaction in which any director derived an improper personal benefit.

Dated effective: _______200__.

Mark A. Blanchett

CONSENT BY DIRECTORS BELLROSE HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION

The undersigned, representing all of the Directors of Bellrose Homeowners Association (the "Corporation"), hereby consent in writing pursuant to RCW 24.03.465 to adoption of the following resolutions:

RESOLVED: That the resignations of Martin J. Spadafora, Aaron Kopet and Mark A. Blanchett from their positions as directors and officers of the Corporation, copies of which are attached hereto, are hereby accepted.

RESOLVED: That the undersigned hereby acknowledge and accept the position of Director of the Corporation.

RESOLVED: That the following persons are hereby elected to serve as officers of the Corporation until the end of the Development period and until successors are duly elected and qualified:

President:

Secretary/Treasurer

appropriate names of ASSOCIA	RESOLVED: That the officers shall promptly amend, as any and all filings with the State of Washington to change the the directors and officers of BELLROSE HOMEOWNERS TION and to reflect the new address and phone number of the n as follows:
	BELLROSE Homeowners' Association
	Printed Name Curt Johnson
	Printed Name:
	Printed Name:

RESIGNATION OF OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS OF BELLROSE HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION

The undersigned hereby resign from our position Bellrose Homeowners Association (the "Corporation")	ns as directors and officers of) effective the day of
, 200	
We hereby agree to do each act and to sign or	arrange for the signing of each
document as may be reasonably requested of us by the resignations.	Corporation to implement out
Math Home lovet	Walla D
Martin J. Spadafora Aaron Kopet	Mark A. Blanchett

DIRECTOR'S RESIGNATION

I, Kim M. Spadafora, hereby resign as a Initial Director of Bellrose Homowners Associaton, a Washington Nonprofit corporation, (the "Corporation") effective September 21, 2005.

Kim M. Spadafora